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sounding their horns ? Sometimes you may see many bodies under one head; at
others, many heads to one body. Here is seen the tail of a serpent attached to the
body of a quadruped; there the head of a quadruped on the body of a fish. In
another place appears an animal, the fore-half of which represents a horse and the
hinder parts a goat. Elsewhere you have a horned animal with the hinder parts of a
horse. Indeed there appears everywhere so multifarious and so wonderful a variety of
diverse forms, that one is more apt to con over these sculptures than study the Serip-
tures, to occupy the whole day in wondering at these rather than in meditating upon
God’s law.” The pious writer concludes: “ For God’s sake ! if people are not ashamed
of the extravagance of these follics, why should they not at least regret the expense
required to produce them ?”’*

These ornaments are repeatedly forbidden by the councils of the church, held in
different ages. In the decrees of the second Nicene Council (a.p. 787), as quoted by
M. Langlois in his Essai sur la Calligraphie, it is declared to be “not only puerile, but
altogether foolish and impious, to attempt to fascinate the eyes of the faithful in the
holy place with the figures of animals or fishes, or other such devices.”t Similar
decrees will be found in the acts of other councils.

* This passage is so curious and valuable, that it

may not be thought unadvisable to give it in the original
language : —

¢ Ceterum in claustris coram legentibus fratribus
quid facit illa ridicula monstruositas, mira quedam
deformis formositas ac formosa deformitas? quid ibi
immunde simie? quid feri leones? quid monstruosi
centauri? quid semi-h ? quid lose tigrides ?
quid milites pugnantes? quid venatores tubicinantes ?
Videas sub uno capite multa corpora et rursus in uno
corpore capita multa. Cernitur hinc in quadrupede
cauda serpentis; illinc in pisce caput quadrupedis. Ibi
bestia preefert equum, capram trahens retro dimidiam.

Hic cornutum animal equum gestat posterius. Tam
multa denique tamque mira diversarum formarum ubi-
que varietas apparet, ut magis legere libeat in marmor-
ibus quam in codicibus, totumque diem occupare sin-
gula ista mirando, quam in lege Dei meditando. Proh
Deo! si non pudet ineptiarum, cur vel non piget ex-
pensarum ?°*'—S. BERNARDI Apolog. ad Guil. S. Theo-
dorici abb. Oper. tom. i. col. 545.

+ ¢ Non solum puerile, sed plane stultum et impium
est, imaginibus animalium aut piscium aut ejusmodi
rerum in sacro loco fidelium oculos fascinare velle,”’—
Concil. Nic. act. 4 et 5.









BURGH CASTLE,

AND THE

'ECCLESIASTICAL ROUND TOWERS OF SUFFOLK AND NORFOLK.

Burer CastLE, in Suffolk, one of the finest of the Roman remains in our island,
has recently received an additional interest from the circumstance of its having
narrowly escaped destruction by a railway, although it is hoped that it is now out of
danger. When antiquities of minor importance stand in the way of public utility, we
can only lament over a necessary loss, and do our best to preserve them in faithful
drawings and descriptions ; but the hand of government should be held out to protect
national monuments of such extent and interest as the onc which is the subject of the
present remarks. It is to be wished that a clause for the preservation of such ruins
should be inserted in all railway bills.

Burgh Castle stands on the edge of a table-land, overlooking the marshy level
through which the river Waveney flows, and which was in the times of the Romans
covered with the waters of the Garenis Ostium. There can be little doubt that the sea
once washed the foot of the bank on which the castle stands, both from the present
aspect of the country and from the circumstance that parts of anchors, rings, and
other pieces of iron belonging to ships, with large beds of shells, particularly those of
oysters, have been found in digging in the marshes and in the immediate vicinity of
the castle.

The history of this castle is very obscure, it being not even mentioned in the
ancient Itineraries; but it seems to be now generally agreed among antiquaries that it
is the station mentioned in the Notitia Imperii, under the name of Gariannonum, as
occupied by a prepositus of the Stablesian horse (prepositus equitum Stablesianorum)
under the command of the count of the Saxon shore (comes limitis Sazonici). The
remains of another fortification are found at Caistor, on the opposite side of the
marshes, between five and six miles from Burgh, which is supposed to have been a
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diately into the sea, and on the Roman road, which was in early times the chief line of
. communication, as these were the situations most exposed to predatory invasions.
The earlier chronicles, and other documents, furnish instances of people seeking shelter
in churches and defending themselves in the steeple; and the village church appears
always to have been regarded as a place of security for depositing treasures and articles
of value. It has been supposed that the round form, used in these early towers, was
- laid aside on account of its inconvenience for the reception of bells.
~ The round tower of the church of Burgh, in Suffolk, the subject of our plate, is
not distinguished from the others by any very remarkable characteristic. of .style. It
is a plain building, with simple loop-holes for windows, the heads of the lowest of
these windows being surrounded with an arch of Roman bricks or tiles; taken, no )
doubt, from the ruins of Burgh Castle, or from some Roman building dependent upon
it, which has now disappeared. The upper part of the tower is modern brickwork.
The church is a small building, possessing no very remarkable features; but in the
interior an interesting Norman font is still preserved.



OBSOLETE PUNISHMENTS.

THE STOCKS AND THE PILLORY.

OnE of the most common modes of punishment for lighter offences in the middle
ages was by exposing the offender, in a disgraceful posture, to the gaze of the public
during a certain length of time. He was attached by the neck, or by the feet, or by
the hands. In the first instance, the instrument of punishment was a pillory; in the
others, the stocks.

The time is not long past when every parish was furnished with a pair of
stocks, and they still remain in some of our country villages. They generally
contained merely a row of holes for confining the legs, but sometimes they had a
second row of smaller holes for imprisoning the hands. They were generally placed
in the churchyard or market-place, or on the village-green: the persons confined in
them were chiefly drunkards, idlers, turbulent vagrants, &c. In more ancient times
there were stocks in the prisons, particularly in those of private establishments, such as
monastic houses, hospitals, and the like. We have already seen that, by the old laws
of the hospital of St. Nicholas at Harbledown, the inmates of either sex were, for
certain offences, liable to be confined in the stocks for as long a period of time as three
days and three nights.* Sometimes the stocks were placed beside or within the
pound, as was the case with those in which Hudibras and his squire were confined : —

¢ And 'twas not long before she found
Him and the stout squire in the pound,

Both coupled in enchanted tether
By farther leg behind together.”

In an earlier part of the poem these stocks are described in burlesque phraseology :—
¢ Thus grave and solemn they marched on,
Until quite through the town th’ had gone ;

At further end of which there stands
An ancient castle, that commands

* See page 34 of the present volume.
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Th’ adjacent parts : in all the fabric
You shall not see one stone nor a brick ;
But all of wood ; by powerful spell

Of magic made impregnable.

There’s neither iron-bar nor gate,
Portcullis, chain, nor bolt, nor grate ;
And yet men durance there abide

In dungeon scarce three inches wide ;
‘With roof so low, that under it

They never stand, but lie or sit ;

And yet so foul, that whoso is in

Is to the middle leg in prison,

In circle magical confin'd,

‘With walls of subtle air and wind,
‘Which none are able to break thorough,
Until they’re freed by head of borough.”

In Foxe’s “ Acts and Monuments”” we find two or three cuts of interiors of prisons,
with very massive stocks within, having a row of larger holes for the feet, and above
them a row of smaller ones for the hands. One of these prisons was * within the
Lolardes Tower at Paules.”” We learn the position of this tower from old Stow:—
“ At either corner of this west end ” [of St. Paul’s church], he says, “is, also of
ancient building, a strong tower of stone, made for bell-towers: the one of them, to
wit, next to the palace, is at this present to the use of the same palace; the other,
towards the south, is called the Lowlardes Tower, and hath been used as the bishop’s
prison for such as were detected for opinions in religion contrary to the faith of the
church.”  Another similar prison, with stocks within, was also in the vicinity of
St. Paul’s, and was called “ The Bishop’s Colchouse.” Foxe (p. 1690) gives the per-
sonal narrative of John Philpots, a sufferer for his religious opinions, of which the

following is an extract. The persons who had arrcsted Philpots are introduced
conversing about him :—

¢ Cooke. He saith he is a gentleman.
« Story. A gentleman, quoth he? He is a vile heretike knave: for an heretike is

no gentleman. Let the keeper of Lollardes Tower come in, and have him away.

¢ The keeper. Here, sir!

 Story. Take this man with you to the Lollards Tower, or els to the Bishops
Colehouse.

* % * * *
¢ After this, I with four others moe were brought to the keepers house, in Pater-
noster Rowe, where we supped. . . . . And with that we were brought through Pater-

noster Row, to my lorde of Londons Colehouse: unto the whiche is joyned a litle
blind house, with a great payre of stocks appoynted both for hand and foot, and there
we found a minister of Essex.”
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Payd for carynge partt of the cage fro the castell, vj.

Payd to Northan Jhon for caryge of tymbar of the cage from the castell, vj°.

Payd to Jhon Awod for makinge of sartun stapulls and hokes for the kockestoll,
.

Payd for settynge up of the cagge, to Nycolas Sturgon and Jhon Carpendre,
vj* viije.

Payd to Thomas Yoyke for carryge of the tymbre of the cage to the court hall
from the castell, vj°.

Payd for a peace of ashe to Nycolas Sturgon for the kockstoll, vj.

Payd for makynge the castell walle agayne that was brokon doune in havyng out
the cage, iiij%.

Payd for ij. horsse lokes for the cagge dore, and the stokes, xx4.”

This would appear as if the cage, pillory, cucking-stool, and stocks, had all the
same locality, and were connected with each other; and accordingly, in a later account-
book of the same town (for 1593), we have combined in one entry of expenses, “ Item,
stocks, pillory, cooking-stoole, and tumbrell.” *

The punishment by pillory was one of the manorial rights of feudal times, and it
appears, with the stocks, to have been one of the instruments for tyrannising over the
peasantry or servial class of the population. Similar modes of punishment were for-
merly practised against the slaves in America and the West Indian islands. In the
medieval towns the pillory was used chiefly against dishonest traders. A satirical poet
of the reign of Edward II. (in the ““Political Songs ” published by the Camden Society,
p- 345), complaining of the remissness with which justice was then exccuted against
offenders of this kind, exclaims : —

¢ But bi seint Jame of Galice, that many man hath souht !
The pilory and cucking-stol beth i-made for noht.”

" 1t appears from the statutes of the church of Anjou, promulgated in 1423 (quoted
in Ducange, v. instalare), that blasphemers and irreligious men were at that period
placed in the pillory. It was in very common use on the continent, and is frequently
mentioned in old documents. From one of these, dated in 1336 (quoted by Ducange
in v. pilorium), we learn that it was ordered by a council that a pillory should be crected
in cemeteries and holy places (in cameteriis et locis sacris). In 1407, as we learn

* See Beesley’s ¢ History of Banbury,” pp. 224-226, and p. 248.
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He describes it as serving political purposes, and punishing party and not crime,
and therefore no longer attended with shame :—

¢ Thou art the state-trap of the law,
But neither canst keep knaves nor honest men in awe ;
These are too hardened in offence,
And those upheld by innocence.”

He goes on to enumerate some of the men who had suffered unjustly : —

“ How have thy opening vacances received,

In every age, the criminals of state ?
And how has mankind been deceived,
‘When they distinguish crimes by fate ?

Tell us, great engine, how to understand,

Or reconcile the justice of the land ;

How Bastwick, Pryn, Hunt, Hollingsby, and Pye,
Men of unspotted honesty —
Men that had learning, wit, and sense,
And more than most men have had since,

Could equal title to thee claim

With Oates and Fuller, men of later fame.
Even the learned Selden saw
A prospect of thee through the law :

He had thy yfty pinracles in view,

But so much honour never was thy due.

Had the great Selden triumph’d on thy stage,
Selden, the honour of his age,
No man could ever shun thee more,

Or grudge to stand where Selden stood before.”

The pinnacles have been mentioned more than once in our foregoing descriptions
of pillories. De Foe adds:—

¢ Thou art no shame to truth and honesty,
Nor is the character of such defaced by thee,
‘Who suffer by oppressive injury.
Shame, like the exhalations of the sun,
Falls back where first the motion was begun :
And he who for no crime shall on thy brows appear,
Bears less reproach than they who placed him there.”

From those who had suffered, the satirist turns to the classes of offenders who
ought to be subjected to this punishment, and he goes on to enumerate the principal
vices of his age, averring that—

“ Justice is inverted, when
Those engines of the law,

Instead of pinching vicious men,
Keep honest ones in awe.”
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monstrations of sympathy and respect, the mob taking off their hats and cheering him,
while some individuals offered him wine and refreshments.

In later times, however, the pillory has been chiefly used as a punishment for the
crime of perjury. The mutilation of the offender’s ears was no longer practised ; but
another practice, hardly less disagreeable, was persisted in to the last —the throwing
of rotten eggs, mud, and other articles, at the offender while in the pillory. When the
culprit had rendered himself or herself (for it was not confined to one sex) particularly
obnoxious, harder substances, and even stones, were used as missiles by the mob ; and
the results were often very painful, and in some instances fatal. This circumstance
caused so degrading and barbarous a punishment to be gradually laid aside, and it is
now many years since it was put in practice, although it was not formally abolished
until the year 1837, by the statute of 1 Vict. ¢. xxiii. It had previously gone out of
use in France and in Germany. In the latter country the pillory was called a pranger;
in France it bore the medieval names of carcan and pillori.

The annexed cut represcnts a FINGER
PILLORY, still preserved in the church of
Ashby-de-la-Zouch, in Leicestershire. It is
threc feet high, and has, as here shewn, holes
for holding at once four fingers of the hand,
or only two fingers. The diagram under-
neath shews the manner in which the finger
was confined, and it will casily be seen that it S
could not be withdrawn umtil the pillory is

opened. If the offender were held long in this posture, the punishment must have
been extremely painful. ‘




SKETCHES OF ANCIENT STREET ARCHITECTURE.

No monuments of past ages are now disappearing so rapidly before the innovations
of modern improvements, as those masses of picturesque buildings which adorned the
streets of the medieval towns. How many plain monotonous lines of modern brick-
work have, within our own time, usurped the place of the varied outlines of the old
timber-houses, with their peaked gables and their elegant carvings! The street
architecture of Old England appears never to have equalled in richness that of the
continental cities ; but some of our country towns still furnish occasional examples
which possess no ordinary degree of beauty, which, it is hoped, may be long preserved,
and regarded in their true light—as national monuments. The specimens given in
the plates which illustrate the present article have been chosen as combining, in some
degree, historical associations with architectural features. They will give us an oppor-
tunity of saying a few words about the localities to which they belong.

Few towns are more intcresting to the antiquary than Ipswich. Situated in an
advantageous position for carrying on the trade with Flanders, it became from an early
period a rich mercantile emporium ; and some of the most profitable manufactures of
the continent were brought to it, at a subsequent period, by the Protestants who fled
from the bitter religious persecution with which they were visited at home. From its
intercourse with the Low Countries, where a considerable degree of freedom of religious
and political opinion had prevailed during the middle ages, Ipswich, with some of the
other towns on the same coast, was in advance of other parts of the island in these
matters ; and it was distinguished at the time of the reformation for the zeal of the
townsmen in the cause of protestantism, several of whom suffered martyrdom in the
reign of queen Mary. Commerce and manufactures are the certain sources of riches;
and Ipswich once contained many fine mansions of its wealthy inhabitants, of which
there are still some remains. The two most remarkable buildings of this description
now existing are known by the names of Mr. Sparrowe’s House and The Tankard.
The former is a remarkably fine specimen of early Elizabethan architecture.

The subject at the foot of our first plate of Street Architecture is a view of the
southern end of St. Lawrence’s Lane in Ipswich, with the corner of Mr. Sparrowe’s
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accommodation of the city authorities who came as auditors, and other houses were
gradually erected around the spot. The pulpit was subsequently destroyed in the
time of the civil wars; and the sermons were preached at St. Bride’s church from the
restoration to the year 1797, and since that time at Christ Church in Ncwgate Street.
Even in Stow’s time, and long after, the whole of the ground to the east, which
was properly called Spital Fields, and which originally bore the name of Lolesworth
Fields, was literally open ground covered with grass; part of it was granted by
Henry VIIL. on a lease to the Artillery Company, and was known as the “ Old
Artillery Ground ” as late as the time of Charles II. It would appear that, at the end
of the sixteenth century, the buildings which occupied the site of the Spital were places
of no very good report. The satirist Nashe, in his tract entitled “ Have with you to
Saffron Walden,” published in 1596, says, “ The third brother (John) had almost
as ill a name as the Spittle in Shorditch.” Some remains of the old priory appear
to have been standing so late as the beginning of the last century.

It would appear that, about the middle of the seventeenth century, the district of
Spitalficlds was the residence of astrologers and fortune-tellers, and that fairs were
held there. A satirical tract against the almanack-makers was published in 1652,
under the title of “ A Faire in Spittle Ficlds, where all the Knick-knacks of Astrology
arc exposed to open sale.”” It appears, also, by the map of London at the time of the
great fire of 1666, that the field properly so called was then nearly surrounded by a
boundary of houses. Shortly after this latter period the French Protestants began to
fly from the persecutions which threatened them in their own country, and a large
portion of them being weavers, they brought that manufacture into England, and esta-
blished themselves in great numbers in the Spital field. In 1687, two years after the
breaking out of the great persecution consequent on the repeal of the Edict of Nantes,
there are said to have been between thirteen and fourtecn thousand of the refugees in
London alone. Strype, in his additions to Stow, says :—* Spittleficlds and parts ad-
jacent, of later times, became a great harbour for poor Protestant strangers, Walloons

water in them, nothing differing in clearness, taste, or
savour from common spring water, whatsoever it was at
the first. Some of these glasses had oil in them, very
thick and earthy in savour; some werc supposed to
have balm in them, but had lost the virtue. Many of
these pots and glasses were broken in cutting of the
clay, so that few were taken up whole. There were
also found divers dishes and cups of a fine red-coloured
earth, which sl.ewed outwardly such a shining smooth-
ness as if they had been of coral; those had in the
bottums Roman letters printed : there were also Jamps

of whi e carth and red, artificially wrought with divers
antiques upon them, some three or four images made of
whitc carth, about a span long each of them: one, 1
remember, was of Pallas; the rest I have forgotten. [
myself have reserved, among divers of those antiquities
there, onc urn, with the ashes and bones, and one pot
of white carth very small, not exceeding the quantity of
a quarter of a winc pint, made in shape of a hare
squattcd upon her legs, and between her ears is the
mouth of the pot. Therc hath also been found in the
same field divers coffins of stone,” &c.
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and French ; who, as in former days, so of late, have been found to become exiles from
their own country for their religion, and for the avoiding cruel persecution. Here
they have found quict and security, and settled themselves in their several trades and
occupations—weavers especially ; whereby God’s blessing is surely not only brought
upon the parish, by receiving poor strangers, but also a great advantage hath acerued
to the whole nation, by the rich manufacture of weaving silks, stuffs, and camlets,
which art they brought along with them.” A considerable portion of the present
population is descended from the French cmigrant families,

Our sketch represents what must have been some of the original buildings which
received the first Protestant refugees: they form the northern end of a street called
White’s Row. The houses on the right-hand side form one side of a square mass of
buildings lying between White’s Row and another small strect, called Dorset Street.
One house in Dorset Street bears the datc 1675, which was probably the year when the
whole pile of buildings was erected. They arc of bricks and wood, and differ from
those of the other streets in having fewer of the broad lines of windows in the upper
storics, which serve to throw light on the work of the weavers. A considerable body
of Jews is now intcrmixed with the population of this neighbourhood, and the small
and crowded streets have little to invite the visitor, except their historical associations
and the important branch of national industry which has so long flourished there.









PATINE

IN CLIFF CHURCH, KENT.

Tue fine old church of Cliff, at a short distance from Rochester, stands in a bold
situation on the brow of the chalk cliffs which overlook the extensive marshes known
as the Cliff Marshes, and commands a view of the wide estuary of the Thames. The
parish formerly belonged to the priory of Canterbury, and it was on that account
named Bishop’s Cliff or Clive. It is situated in the hundred of Hoo, and is sometimes
called Cliff at Hoo. Many antiquaries have supposed it to be the place called by the
Anglo-Saxons Clofesho, or Cleofesho, at which so many councils were held in the
earlier ages of the Anglo-Saxon church.

The church of Cliff is a massive building, in the form of a cross; its windows were
formerly adorned with a profusion of stained glass, much of which has now dis-
appeared ; but there are still many interesting remains in the windows of the chancel.
On one of the walls are some fragments of a painting representing the Day of Judgment.
There are several old monuments in the church, among which is an early coffin-shaped
slab, with the inscription,—

¢« Jone [a femme Johan Ram gyst pd
Beu Ve 52 alme eit mered.” pfe

There remein also six wooden stalls, which were formerly appropriated to monks of
Christ Church, Canterbury, who visited or resided at their manor of CLff.

The elegant patine represented in our engraving is preserved with the communion
plate. It is six inches in diameter, of silver gilt, with the following inscription round
the margin, in characters apparently of the latter part of the fourteenth century, or
possibly of the fifteenth :— .

 Benedicambds Patrem et Fliom dm spirith sancto.”

In the centre a medallion, in blue and green enamel, represents the Father seated
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on a throne, with his arms extended, and supporting a cross on which is affixed the
Son. This patine has, in recent times, been used for collecting moncy at the offering,
or at the church-door; by which the ecnamel has been destroyed, leaving only enough
to indicate the colour and material of which it was composed.

Most of our readers will remember the beautiful passage in Shakespeare :—

¢ How sweet the moonlight sleeps upon this bank !
Here will we sit, and let the sounds of music
Creep in our ears; soft stillness and the night
Become the touches of sweet harmony.
Sit, Jessica : look how the floor of heaven
Is thick inlaid with patines of bright gold ;
There's not the smallest orb, which thou behold’st,
But in his motion like an angel sings,
Still quiring to the young-eyed cherubins :
Such harmony is in immortal souls.”

Merchant of Venice, act v. sc. 1.

The patine and the chalice were the two vessels used in Roman Catholic times to
administer the consecrated bread and wine in the holy sacrament, and were always of
gold or of silver gilt, which explains the poet’s simile. They were often richly orna-
mented. In the “Provinciale” of Lyndwood, a compendium of the Canons and
Constitutions of the Romish Church in England, it is particularly ordercd that the
eucharist shall not be consecrated in any other metal except gold or silver; and it
is interdicted to any bishop to consecrate tin.*

* ¢ Precipimus ne eonsecretﬁr cukaristia nisi calice | woop, ¢¢ Provinciale,” lib. iii. tit. 23, De celebratione
de auro vel argento; et ne stanneum calicem aliquis | missarum. The patine is, of course, included as be-
episcopus ammodo benedicat interdicimus.”’— LYND- | longing to the chalice.









ON THE EARLY ‘USE OF FIRE-ARMS. _

By the kindness of Lord Albert Conyngham we are enabled to give an engraving
of an early and beautifully ornamented gun-lock, recently purchased by his lordship at
Warwick. It is of the kind called wheel-locks, and was placed temporarily in a socket
or groove, in the stock of the gun, at the moment of firing. There can be little doubt
that it is of Italian workmanship; and the device of the dragon swallowing & child,
which is repeated in different parts of the ornaments, seems to prove that it was made
for some member of the Italian family of Visconti, of whom this was the badge. The
same device is found on the monument of Bernabo Visconti at Milan, engraved in the
eighteenth volume of the * Archwxologia.”

The history of the introduction of fire-arms into Europe is a subject by no means
devoid of -interest, and, at the same time, one which has been thrown into great con-
fusion by some writers who have blindly followed old prejudices, and by others who
have argued upon passages of writers who were not strictly contemporary with the
events they relate. Historians like Froissart, describing events which happened some
years previously, were (in that age particularly) too apt to apply to them the manners
and usages of the time in which they were writing. A very learned and careful
French antiquary, M. Lacabane, has recently collected together some most important
contemporary documents relating to the early use of gunpowder in France,* of which
we shall make free use in the following observations.

There can be no doubt that the use of gunpowder in Europe was derived from the
Arabs, but it is not so easy to determine the exact source from whence they borrowed
the invention. Even among the Arabs it appears to have been long used as an ex-
plosive agent, before its projectile force was understood. Recent researches seem to
leave little room for doubt that the celebrated Greek fire was a composition closely re-
sembling, if not identical with, gunpowder. M. Reinaud has discovered, among the
manuscripts of the Royal Library at Paris, a treatise in Arabic, written at the end of

* In an essay published in & recent number of that | of which has now been successfully continued through
very interesting and valuable antiquarian periodical, the | several years: it is supported by the literary contri-
‘¢ Bibliothéque de 1’Ecole des Chartes,’”” the publication | butions of some of the best antiquaries in France,

R
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the thirteenth century, containing receipts for making gunpowder of different degrees of
force ; which, as M. Lacabane observes, shews that the art was then far from being in
its infancy among that people. Three of these receipts are,—1, Saltpetre, 10 drachms ;
sulphur, 1 drachm; charcoal, 2 drachms:—2, Saltpetre, 10 drachms; sulphur, 1}
drachm ; charcoal, 24 drachms:—3, Saltpetre, 10 drachms; sulphur, 14 drachm;
charcoal, 2} drachms. We learn from Condé (“ History of the Arabs in Spain”),
that in 1252 the Moors, besieged in Niebla, ‘‘defended themselves by throwing at the
besiegers stones and darts with machines, and throwing of thunder with fire.” This,
perhaps, means only explosive masses, like bombs, thrown with the balista, or some
similar warlike machine.

It seems clear, from the allusions in the writings of our countryman, Roger Bacon,
that some of the effects of gunpowder were well known in Europe in the middle of the
thirteenth century. In the “Opus Majus” of that writer, written between 1165 and
1168, he mentions crackers made of gunpowder, “about the size of one’s thumb,” as
being “in many parts of the world” used as playthings for children.* It appears
from another passage that Bacon was perfectly well acquainted with the composition of
the powder which produced these effects, but it seems to have been considered as a
secret to be communicated to the initiated alone, for in the only place where it is de-
scribed he has concealed his meaning under an anagram; from which, however, it
appears that two of the ingredients were saltpetre and sulphur.t

The application of powder as a projectile force seems to have originated in Italy.
A document in the archives of Florence, dated the 11th of February, 1326, speaks of
the nomination of two officers to oversee the making of iron balls and cannons of metal
(pilas seu palottas ferreas et canones de mettallo), for the defence of that city and of the
towns and fortresses dependent upon it. From this time cannons are mentioned, not
unfrequently, by the Italian historians. At the siege of Cividale, in 1331, the enemy
made use of instruments named by the historian rasi, which appear to have been the
same bomb-shaped vessels that were afterwards called by the French writers pots de fer
—iron pots, and from which were shot arrows and other missiles. The first mention
of fire-arms in France occurs in the year 1338, on the breaking out of the war between
that country and England. On the 2d of July in that year, Guillaume du Moulin of

* The passage alluded to is so curious that it deserves | sentiatur excedere rugitum et coruscationem maximam
to be given in & note:—** Et experimentum hujus rei | sui luminis jubar excedit.’’— Opus Majus, ed. Jebb,
capimus ex Aoc ludicro puerili, quod fit in mulfis mundi | p. 474.
partibus, scilicet ut instrumento facto ad quantitatem 1 ¢ Sed tamen salis petree lurx ropo vir can wiriet
pollicis humani ex violentia illius salis, qui sal petrs | sulphuris, et sic facies tonitrum et coruscationem, si
vocatur, tam horribilis sonus nascitur in ruptura tam | scias artificium.”’— BAcoN, Epistola de secretis operibus
modicse rei, scilicet modici pergameni, quod fortis tonitrui | Artis e? Nature, cap. xi.
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Boulogne gives a receipt for munitions drawn from the arsenal of Boulogne; among
which are “an iron pot to throw fire-darts, forty-eight darts in two cases, a pound of
saltpetre and half-a-pound of sulphur, to make powder to fire off the said darts.”
These materials were probably used in the attack upon Southampton, which was plun-
dered and burnt by the French fleet.

It appears, at first view, somewhat singular that in this document no mention is
made of charcoal among the ingredients for the powder; which is the case, also, in
some other similar records: but M. Lacabane has very fairly explained the omission by
supposing that the charcoal was a thing always ready at hand, and not necessarily
bought for the occasion or sought from a distance. The charcoal was always an
essential article in the composition. The following is an English reccipt for making
gunpowder, taken from a manuscript of the fifteenth century:—¢ Take the poudre of
1). unces of salpetre, and half an unce of brymston, and half an unce of lynde-cole
[charcoal of the linden-tree], and temper togidur in a mortar with rede vynegre, and
make it thyk as past til the tyme that ye se neyther salpetre ne brymstone, and drye
it on the ffyre in an erthe pan with soft ffyre; and when it is wele dryed grynde it in
a morter til it be smalle poudre, and than sarse it throow a sarse. And if ye wil have
fyne colofre poudre, sethe [oil] fyrst your salpetre, and fyne it well, and do as it is
said afore.”

We next find, from a document cited by Ducange, that cannons were used in the
siege of Puy-Guillem in Périgord, in the spring of 1339. At the end of September,
1339, Edward III., who had landed in Flanders, began the siege of Cambray, which
he was eventually compelled to relinquish. Among the documents relating to this
event preserved in the French archives, are two receipts for munitions of war for the
defence of the city, the first of which relates to “ten cannons, five of iron and five of
metal,” which had cost “25 livres, 2 sols, and 7 deniers,” in money of Tours: the
other relates to saltpetre and sulphur to make powder. A French scholar has com-
pared the price of these cannons with the value of iron at the same period, and has
arrived at the conclusion that the weight of each cannon was only about forty-
six pounds; so that they must have been of very small dimensions. M. Lacabane
gives several other documents relating to the use of cannon between this date and
1346, the year of the battle of Crecy, which shew that they had then been generally
adopted as instruments of war. It appears, however, that for a long time after the
invention of cannon they were used chiefly to throw fire-darts and combustibles of
different kinds, and that, at the date last mentioned, cannon-balls had not been long
known.

Hitherto cannon had only been used in sieges of towns; the English have the
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of the gun might be raised or lowered as the occasion required. The two cannons
mn the second cut appear to be

of much larger dimensions, and

one of them is mounted in a

rude wheel-carriage.

The loading and firing of
these guns was a very simple pro-
cess, the priming being placed
on a small hole pierced through
the breech of the cannon, and,
as it appears, ignited by the application of a red-hot wire or lighted match. A new
method of loading was, however, invented, by making the portion of the cannon which
received the charge movable; giving to the cannon some resemblance to a modern
ritle. The movable part of the gun was called the chember, and, when charged, was
fixed to the end of the barrel, which served only to give a direction to the shot.
Some of these guns with chambers are to be seen in different museums of ancient

cut, taken from an engraving

by Israel van Mechlin, exe-

cuted in the latter part of the

fifteenth century, represents a

cannon of this deseniption,

I RS el mounted on a carrisge much

sl superior to any of those re-

presented in the illuminations : the chamber is lying on the ground, beside the hammer
used for fixing it in its place.

We have seen that many of the cannons in use in earlier times were of very small
dimensions : they were, in fact, sometimes so small, that the cannonier held his gun n
his hand, or sapported it on his shoulder, while firing it. The inhabitants of Lucea
are generally supposed to have first made use of what were called hand-cannons (or,
rather, as they would be called m England, hand-guns), near the beginning of the
fifteenth century. They are at first rarely mentioned by contemporary writers, but
they must have been quickly adopted in other parts of Europe, and they certainly were
common in England before the middle of the century.* In a roll of expenses of the

* A learned paper on the subject of hand fire-arms, ' from their first invention, down to modera times, are

ngrS-ndR.)leyri:k,'ﬂlbeﬁs‘ndinth“Anh- ! there minately described.
ologia,” vol. xxii. Al the different kinds of guns weed |
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castle of Holy Island, in the county of Durham, for the year 1446, the following
items occur : —

“ Bought ij. hand-gunnes deere . . . . iijj*
Item, gonepowder . . . . . . . . idij”

The material of these hand-guns appears to be brass; and the price, two shillings
each, would seem to indicate, notwithstanding the difference in the value of money,
that they were of very small dimensions. We give a cut, from a manuscript of the
reign of Edward IV. (MS. Reg. 15 E. IV.), repre-
senting a soldier discharging one of these hand-guns,
which he holds with one hand on his shoulder, while
with his right hand he applies the match to the touch-
hole. For the better convenience of holding it (for
after a few discharges the metal would become too hot)
the gun was afterwards attached to & wooden stock, and
took the rude form of a modern musket. In a treatise on warlike inventions, entitled
De re militari, by an Italian named R. Valturius, the editio princeps of which was
printed at Verona in 1472, we find a number of bold woodcuts of military engines. A
description of this work will be found in Mr. Chatto’s “ History of Wood-engraving.”

One large cut in this work represents soldiers firing
from a kind of floating battery, with hand-guns fitted
on stocks. The woodcut in our margin is & fac-simile
of one of these figures.

It does not appear distinctly in this latter cut by
what means the soldier fires the priming; but the ap-
plication of the match by the hand must have been
found extremely embarrassing, and this soon led to the
addition of a contrivance for applying the match to
the touch-hole by moving a trigger. By this device,
instead of having only one hand to hold the gun, the
soldier had more power over his gun by holding it in
both. This addition to the gun, which was the origin
of the match-lock, we also owe to the Italians. The
gun-lock was carried rapidly through a succession of
improvements, but it is not our intention to describe

the different forms of guns used in the sixteenth and subsequent centuries. An
attempt was soon made to dispense with the match ; and sparks were communicated to
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the priming by the friction of a furrowed wheel of steel against a piece of sulphuret of
iron, fixed in the same way as the flint in modern guns. The wheel was moved by a
spring, and was wound up with a chain like a watch to prepare it for use. This was,
of course, rather a tedious process. The wheel-lock was invented in Italy early in the
sixteenth century. Sometimes the single lock had two cocks, each of which was placed
at the same time against the wheel; and it was often richly ornamented, as in the
beautiful specimen we have engraved from the collection of Lord Albert Conyngham.
It was not fixed on the gun, but was fitted in a groove when ready for firing. From
old inventories of the goods and chattels of great people in the times of Henry VIII.
and Edward V1., some of which are quoted by Sir Samuel R. Meyrick in his paper on
guns in the “ Archwologia,” it would appear that the wheel-lock, when not in use, was

generally carried in a velvet bag. '
Before we leave the subject, it may be stated that the work of Valturius above
| mentioned contains, among other destructive engines, a figure
R of a bomb-shell, of which we give a fac-simile in the margin.
It is not generally supposed that shells are of this antiquity :
however, they seem a very natural improvement upon some of
the older projectiles. It appears certain that some kind of
explosive balls and other inflammable articles were thrown into
besieged towns by the military engines long before the invention
of cannon, and that for a long time these, with darts, were al-
most the only missiles thrown from the cannons. These, as we
have already stated, were afterwards displaced by cannon-balls
made of stone, iron, and lead, and not unfrequently of a large
stone enveloped in an outer coating of iron or lead, to make it

heavier.
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have been established in Britain.* Isidore of Seville, at the end of the sixth century
(he died in 610), speaks of the red pottery made at Aretium (the modern Arezzo), which
he calls Aretine vases, and also of the Samian ware, with an expression of doubt as to
the exact locality which produced the latter; so that it is probable that it was made in
different parts of Roman Europe. Modern researches at Arezzo, in Italy, have not
only brought to light a considerable quantity of the Aretine ware, but also the remains
of the kilns in which it was baked; and a scholar of that place, A. Fabroni, has
published a book on the subject, under the title of Storia degli antichi vasi fittili
Aretini.  Although the specimens given in his engravings bear a general resemblance
to the Samian ware found in England, yet there are some very strongly marked
circumstances in which they differ. The names of the potters are different, and are
marked in a different form and position on the vessels; the red of the Aretine ware
is of a deeper shade, the figures are in general in a much better style of art, and they
seem to be of an earlier date.

The common Samian ware is of an extremely delicate texture, having somewhat the
appearance of fine red sealing-wax. The vessels composed of it are of all sizes and
shapes, sometimes strong, but more frequently thin and consequently very brittle;
and it is only under favourable circumstances that we find them unbroken. Their
frailty appears, in classic times, to have been proverbial : when, in Plautus, a person is
desired to knock gently at the door, he replies, “ You seem to fear that the door is
made of Samian ware,” '

¢ M. Placide pulta. P. Metuis, credo, ne fores Samise sient.”
Menachm. 1. 98.

And, on another occasion,—

‘¢ Vide, queso, ne quis tractet illam indiligens :
Scis tu, ut confringi vas cito Samium solet ?”’
Bacch. 1. 166.

It is by no means unusual to find bowls and paterz of this ware which have been
broken by their possessors in former times, and subsequently mended, generally by
means of leaden rivets. This shews the value which must generally have been set
upon it, and seems at first sight rather contradictory to the great profusion in which it
is found. In the specimens discovered in this country, the name of the potter is generally
marked in the centre of the vessel, in the inside. Long lists of potters’ names have

* Immense quantities of this ware are constantly | in the time of the Romans dry ground. It has been
brought up by the fishermen from a shoal called the | conjectured that this was the site of extensive potteries
Pan Rock, off Margate, which is supposed to have been | of Samian ware.

v
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the double pipe, or rather on two pipes at once (tibie pares), the mode in which this
musical instrument was most commonly used by the Romans; it is frequently so
represented in antiques. '
In some of the finer specimens of the Samian ware, we see plainly by the fracture
that the figures have been first cast in a mould, and then attached to the surface of the
vessel, and perhaps finished afterwards with a tool. An example of this is found in a
large and very beautiful bow], unfortunately much mutilated, obtained by Mr. Smith
from Cornhill, in the course of excavations made there in 1841. When unbroken, this
vase was ten inches high, by thirty-four in circumference. The ornaments consist
of male and female figures, with vine-trees placed alternately, forming a band four
inches deep round the exterior; above is a smaller band of vine-branches and hares,
and, beneath, a border, in which birds are introduced alternately with vines. Three
only of the figures in the central compartment remain, all mutilated. Our fig. 49

47 49

48

represents the one which is most complete, the size of the original. The other two
figures are those of seated females, profusely covered with drapery; at the feet of one
is a recumbent amphora, and by the side of the other a Phrygian shield. Fig. 47 is a
fragment of another fine vessel of Samian ware, executed in precisely the same style as
the last, found in Cheapside. In the fracture of these vases we see clearly the manner
in which the moulded figures were applied to the pottery; but this is still more evident
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its currency appears to have been base money. The immense number of plated denarii
found here leaves little room for doubting that they were imported by the imperial
authority or connivance. A quantity of these forgeries was recently discovered in
King William Street, consisting of various consular and imperial coins terminating
with Claudius, by whose troops they were probably brought over to our island.
They were found packed up in rolls, just as they had been imported. These plated
coins were most abundant in the reigns of Severus and his successors. Quantities of
Roman clay moulds for fabricating coins have been discovered in different parts of
England, particularly at Castor, in Northamptonshire, by Mr. Artis; so that this
country appears to have abounded with forgers!

Mr. Smith’s wonderful collection of Roman antiquities found in London shews how
much may be done by individual zeal when wisely directed. The desire of preserving
antiquities is now spreading widely through the land, and must in the sequel lead to
an advance in archzological science. Many of our provincial towns already possess
museums, in which the more important antiquities that are from time to time exhumed
are safely deposited for public inspection. It is said that the city of London is to have
a museum, which, in judicious hands, would be an important institution. But the
authorities, who have hitherto obstructed the antiquarian pursuits of others, are not
likely to do much for the encouragement of them themselves; and we fear the city
museum will only form another excuse for interrupting the researches of Mr. Smith and
his fellow-labourers. In the British Museum, our native antiquities appear to be held
in very little esteem, and, in general, articles sent there are lost to public view. 1t is
discreditable to the government of this country that we have no museum of national
antiquities, which might, under a judicious curator, at a very moderate expense to the
nation, become one of the most interesting and popular institutions of the metropolis.
In such an institution, a collection like that made by Mr. Smith should be deposited
for the advantage of posterity.



SILCHESTER.

SiLcHESTER appears to be the site of one of the largest of the Roman towns in
Britain, the walls which still remain being nearly three miles in circuit. It lies on
the northern borders of Hampshire, and an inscription found some years ago within
the area of the walls leaves no doubt of its being the town which is called by some old
writers Segontiacum, and which appears in the “ Antonine Itinerary” under the name
either of Calleva or of Vindomis. It appears to have been utterly destroyed by the
Saxon invaders (it is supposed by Zlla), and green fields now cover the floors which
were once trodden by its numerous citizens. The only buildings within the walls are a
farm-house and a church, the modern village of Silchester being without the walls at
a short distance to the west.

This place is not mentioned in the authentic Roman historians, but tradition and
fable seem to have preserved some remembrance of its former celebrity and misfortunes.
It appears to be the Cair Segeint of the brief chronicle which passes under the name of
Nennius; and it is there said to have been built by Constantius, the son of Constantine
the Great, who, according to the legend, “sowed in the pavement of the aforesaid city
three seeds, that is, of gold, silver, and brass, in order that no poor man might ever
dwell in it.”” Constantius, it is pretended, died and was buried here, without the walls ;
and a manuscript chronicle in the College of Arms tells us that his body was found there
in 1283. Probably some remarkable discoveries were made at that time. According
to the fabulous history of Geoffrey of Monmouth, it was at Silchester that, in 407, the
Romano-British soldiery, on the death of the usurper Gratian, elected Constantine, a
person of low birth, to the imperial dignity, and from hence he marched into Gaul
against the emperor Honorius. We learn from the same very doubtful authority, that
in the midst of the Saxon invasion, on the death of Utherpendragon, the British
chieftains assembled at Silchester, and there crowned the far-famed Arthur as their
king. These legends seem to prove that it had been a city of great importance.
According to the modern tradition of the neighbourhood, the city was finally destroyed
by wild-fire, which the encmy sent in attached to the tails of sparrows !
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Several bronze figures have likewise been dug up at different times. Mr. Barton, the
present occupier of the farm, possesses an interesting collection of Roman antiquities
found in Silchester, consisting of a number of curious and elegant fibule, two of which
are beautifully ornamented with blue and red enamel, a few stili and other implements,
the weight of a steelyard representing the bust of a man, several weapons, and a large
collection of coins, ranging through the whole period of the Roman occupation of the
island, but those of Severus and his family are by much the most numerous. Two
mutilated stones, bearing very important votive inscriptions, have also been found at
this place. The first, dug up in the year 1732, is a dedication to the Hercules of the
Segontiaci, which proves the identity of Silchester with what the pretended Nennius
calls Caer Segeint. This inscription ran as follows :—

DEO* HER
SAEGON
T * TAMMON
BAEN * TAMMON
VITALIS
.HONO

Which has been read, Deo Herculi Segontiacorum Titus Tammonius Senii Tammonii
Vitalis filius ob honorem, i.e. Titus Tammonius, the son of Swnius Tammonius
Vitalis, dedicated this in honour of the God Hercules of the Swegontiaci. ‘The other,
found about the year 1741, is dedicated to Julia Domna, the second wife of the emperor
Severus, and the mother of Caracalla and Geta, and, as she died about a.p. 217, it
proves that this city existed long before the time of its pretended founder, Constantius.
Two of the titles here given to the empress, Mater Senatus and Mater Castrorum, are
found on medals.

IVLIAE ' AVG
MATRI - 8E
NATVS-ET
CASTROR"
M. BABINVS
VICTOR ° OB

Which may be read, Julie Auguste matri senatus et castrorum M. Sabinus Victorinus
ob honorem posuit, i.e. Marcus Sabinus Victorinus placed this in honour of Julia the
empress, the mother of the senate and of the army.

We have already alluded to one local tradition relating to Silchester; there is
another which deserves notice. The peasantry of the neighbourhood call (or at least
they did so in Camden’s time) the Roman coins found here Onion’s pennies. In the
eastern wall, some distance to the south of the church, there is a cavern or arch called
popularly Onion’s Hole, because, according to the legend, a great giant, who dwelt in
ancient times in this city, had made a dwelling in this spot.

x
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The church of Silchester, which appears in our first view, possesses outwardly
few attractions, having been altered and partially rebuilt at a period when good
taste was not predominant. The ancignt door, which, with the original portion of
the church, belongs to the style generally termed early English, is ornamented with a
simple dog-tooth moulding. The arches of the chancel spring from ponderous oc-
tagonal pillars, very slightly ornamented, and which appear to have been based upon
the heavy foundation-stones removed from the adjoining walls. The font, placed on
similar stones, is octagonal, and quite plain. The windows contain remains of fine
painted glass, upon one fragment of which may be distinguished the head of a bishop,
behind which appear the towers of a city. It seems to have been a work of the fifteenth
century. The wooden screen of the chancel, apparently executed about the same time,
is richly carved with figures of angels bearing scrolls, interspersed with the pomegranate.
The pulpit is of carved oak, and bears the inseription—

THE GUIFTE OF JAMES HORE, GENT. 1639.

The church contains some memorials of this family. In the south wall is a very
interesting monument to a lady, apparently of the reign of Edward I. or of his suc-
cessor. She lies beneath a low pointed arch, her head supported by angels, and a dog
at her feet. The figure is much mautilated, and, with the whole tomb, has been covered
with whitewash ; but upon the wall at the back of the recess are fragments of a painting
in distemper, representing the lady whose effigy is below, in an attitude of prayer,
borne up by angels. In the churchyard are two monuments of an earlier and still
more interesting character, of which we intend to give an éngraving and description in
a subsequent paper. They are in a great state of decay, but deserve a more honourable
resting-place within the walls of the church.



A court fool, from MS. Reg. 16 &. IV. (16th century).

THE BURLESQUE FESTIVALS OF THE MIDDLE AGES.

IN the first ages of Christianity, when—a persecuted sect—it trusted to the force of
individual conviction for its converts, these latter, in joining the religion of the Saviour,
gave up at once all their old superstitions and prejudices. But when, in course of time,
it became established as the religion of the state, the mass of the people soon disbe-
lieved in the power of their old gods, and accepted the faith of the emperor. Churches
took the place of temples, and the statues of their idols were thrown down and broken
without much repugnance. But there was a host of old superstitions, customs, and
observances, intimately connected with the old idolatry of the people, which were so
deeply rooted in their habits and social life, that it was not an easy thing to persuade
converts made under such circumstances to consent to their abolition. In fact, the
Christian teachers found an advantage in shewing forbearance in the great religious
revolution in which they were engaged, and they were wise in not shocking by a
too abrupt change the deeply rooted prejudices of so many ages. It was their policy
to substitute gradually Christian festivals in the place of pagan ceremonies; and thus,
amid the most riotous feasts and processions of the ancient ceremonial, new names and
new objects kept the popular mind fixed to a better faith. In course of time, however,
as the church itself became corrupt and its ministers venal, these popular excesses,
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which had at first been tolerated from necessity, were encouraged by the very persons
whose duty it was to discountenance them ; ard, during the middle ages, at certain
periods of the year, even the holiest places became the scene of riotous festivals,
which recalled in many of their characteristics the most licentious of the feasts of
antiquity. It is true that these pseudo-Christian ceremonies were condemned by the
better and wiser of the ecclesiastics, and that they were repeatedly proscribed by the
councils of the church; but these condemnations were either merely formal, or they
were rendered meffectual by the supineness and backwardness of those who ought to
have put them in force. Too congenial with the general laxity of manners which
characterised the feudal period, these ccremonies increased in force and intensity
during the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries, until they became so great an object
of public scandal that they could no longer be tolerated. Yet in Catholic countries,
such as Francc, and Italy, and Spain, they continued to be observed in a suppressed
form until the great dislocation of society produced by the French revolution at
the close of the eighteenth century.

Among the Romans the latter part of the month of December was devoted to the
noisy and licentious festivitics of the Saturnalia. In the earliest times of Rome this
festival had been restricted to one day in the middle of the month ; but the period of
celebration was afterwards extended to seven days, and it was followed by a multitude
of other festivals of the same character, called, from the circumstance of their com-
mencing in the Calends of January, the ferie Kalendarum, which were continued during
the month of January,* and were but just closed at the time of the somewhat analogous
festival of the Lupercals in February.+ This answers precisely to the period extending
from the festivities of Christmas to the time of the carnival of modern times, of which
the Roman festivities were undoubtedly the prototype. The resemblance between the
old and the modern observances is too strongly marked to be easily mistaken. During
the seven days of the Saturnalia masters were placed on an equality with their slaves,
and all classes and ranks and cven sexcs were confounded together by disguises and
masks, under cover of which were enacted a thousand different follies and extravagances.
These were precisely the characteristics of the joyous festivals of the middle ages.}

* (¢ Assunt feriee quas indulget magna pars mensis Jano
dicati.””—M A croB1US, Saturnal. lib. i. c. 2.

+ A curious coincidence is perhaps worth pointing
out. It is well known that at the Lupercalia the Luper-
cals ran about the streets in a state of nudity : a similar
practice characterised the Saturnalia. A writer of the
sixteenth century, speaking of the festive practices of
the Franconians at the period of the carnival, says,—
¢ Atque ne pudor obset, qui se ludicro illi committunt,

facies larvis obdacunt, sexum et mtatem mentientes viri
mulierum vestimenta mulieres virorum induunt. Qui-
dam satyras, aut malos demones potius, repreesentare
volentes, minio se aut atramento tingunt, habituque
nefando deturpant: alii nudi discurrentes Lupercos agunt,
a quibus ego annuum suum delirandi morem ad nos de-
fluxisse existimo.””—Jo. BOoEMUS AUBAN., Mores, Le-
ges, et Ritus omnium Genlium. 12mo. 1570. P. 277.

1 Lucian, Safurnal. p. 608, gives the following sum-
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the Calends of January,” in which it appears that people then disguised themselves
with masks of old men, stags, &c.* The Romans in their Saturnalia, according to
some of the primitive fathers of the church, went in the disguise of animals. The
Capitulare of Karlomann, published in 744, forbids the practice of indecent pagan
ceremonies in the month of Pebruary (spurcalia in Februario). In the collection of
Decreta, Burchard; bishop of Worms, who died in 1024, forbids “the performance
on the Calends of January of any of the ceremonies invented by the pagans;”+ and he
subsequently explains his meaning by anathematising those who presume to “ celebrate
the Calends of Janusry with the pagan ceremonies,” or who prepare feasts in their
houses, or go about the streets singing and dsncing.}

However, although the Roman festivals were retained, the names under which they
went and their original objects were entirely changed, and saints and martyrs were
substituted for Saturn and Janus. As they thus lost their individual character, the
festivals took different local forms and names; and although all our medieval festivals
of this description had one origin, we shall find it more convenient to describe them
under their different titles of Feasts of Asses, or of Innocents, or of Fools, &c. It is
generally supposed that one of the original objects of the ancient Saturnalia was to give
a day of joyous liberty to the servile class of society in which they might in some
measure repay themselves for the sufferings they were obliged to support during the
rest of the year, and the prospect of which might afford some alleviation to their sad
condition. The miserable position of the lower classes under the feudal system, and
the constant sufferings to which all classes were exposed, gave a zest to the wild
outbreaks of folly and licentiousness which marked the medieval festivals that had
arisen out of the older Saturnalia, and which were but too congenial with the laxity
of manners that prevailed from the twelfth to the sixteenth century. They were
absolutcly neither more nor less than Folly personified, and, in accordance with their
character, their most general title was that of Feast of Fools, or of Folly.

1. THE FEAST OF THE ASS.

One of the most important personages in many of these festivals was the ass, which,
as typical of stupidity, might perhaps be taken as an emblem of the character of the

* ¢ Nullus in Kal. Jan. nefanda aut ridiculosa, vetu- | a paganis inventum est.”— Burehardi Decret. in the Col-
los aut cervulos, aut jotticos (?) faciat, neque mensas | lect. Decret. Colon, 1548,
super noctem componat, neque strenas aut bibitiones 1 * Si quis Calendas Januarias ritu paganorum colere,
superfluas exerceat.” —DACHER. Spicileg. tom. v. p. | . . . aut mensas cum lapidibus vel epulis in domibus suis
216, (Ed. 1661.) ! preeparare, et per vicos et plateas cantatores et choros
t “ Est aliquis qui in Cal, Jaa. aliquid fecerat quod ; ducere praesumpserit, anathema sit.” —Ib,
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ceremonies in which it was introduced, but which in fact had a higher import. The
ass, partly because it holds a somewhat more dignified position in society in the East,
and partly because it has always been looked upon as the emblem of patience and
humility, acts a distinguished part in Scripture history. It was an ass to which was
given the power of speaking, and of resisting the unrighteous intentions of Balaam; it
was on an ass also that the Virgin Mary bore the infant Saviour in safety to Egypt;
and, subsequently, Christ made his triumphant entry into Jerusalem seated upon this
animal. At Beauvais, in France, a burlesque festival was formerly celebrated on the
14th of January, ostensibly in commemoration of the flight into Egypt, in which the
most beautiful young girl that could be found was seated on an ass, and led in
procession to the church. In a feast of fools (festum follorum) celebrated at Autun in
the beginning of the fifteenth century, an ass was led in triumph into the church,
accompanied by a crowd of people in disguises and -grotesque dresses, chanting a song
in praise of the animal. At the feast of the conards of Rouen, which enjoyed great
celebrity in the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries, the “abbot,” as he was called, rode
about the town in a grotesque costume on an ass, while the crowd of followers indulged
in coarse and burlesque songs, which, like those of the ancient Saturnalia, raked up all
the scandal of the past year. One of these songs has been preserved, a strange mixture
of French and Latin words:—

¢¢ De asino bono nostro
Meliori et optimo
Debemus faire féte.
En revenant de Gravinaria,
Un gres charden reperit in via,
Il hwi coupe la t&te.
Vir monachus in mense Julio
Egressus est ¢ monasterio,
C’est dom de la Bucaille ;
Egressus est sine licentia,
Pour aller voir dona Venissia,

Et faire la ripaille.

It appears that the visits of dom de la Bucaille, prior of the abbey of St. Taurin, to
dame de Venisse, prioress of St. Saviour at the same place, had been a subject of public
scandal.

There was, moreover, in various towns of France, such as Rouen, Sens, Douay, &e.,
a regular festival at Christmas, entitled the Feast of the Ass, or the Feast of Asses, ip
which the clergy of the place took a prominent part, and more than one old church-
service book has preserved the “service’” for this occasion. The following lines,
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conveying the wish that all gravity should be banished, and nothing but gaiety be
allowed, formed the commencement of the festival in the church of Sens: —

¢ Lux hodie, lux leetitize, me judice, tristis
Quisquis erit, removendus erit solemnibus istis.
Sint hodie procul invidiz, procul omnia mcesta ;
Leta volunt, qui colunt Asinaric festa."

a4

It appears from the service-books alluded to, that a place was decked out in the middle
of the church for the reception of the festive animal, and that two clerks led the
procession, singing a burlesque song in Latin, with a refrain or burthen in French.
The subject of this song was the praise of the ass: it spoke of its Eastern origin, and
of its beauty and strength in bearing burthens: —
“ Orientis partibus
Adventavit asinus,
Pulcher et fortissimus,
Sarcinis aptissimus.
HE, sire dne, K¢,
It was born and bred “in the mountains of Sicsen,” and passed the Jordan to visit
Bethlehem : —
*¢ Hic in collibus Sicsen
Enutritus sub Reuben,
Transiit per Jordanem,

Saliit in Bethlehem.
HE, sire éne, hé.”

It appears that the burthen of the song, recovered from another source, consisted of the

following lines : —
¢ Hé, sire fine, car chantez,
Belle bouche rechignez,
Vous aurex du foin assesz,
Et de l'avoine A plantes."

The song went on to praise the ass above other beasts of burthen :—

* Saltu vincit hinnulos,
Damas, et capreolos,
Super dromedarios
Velox Madianeos.
HE, sire dne, he ;"
and to describe its food and mode of life. It finished as the procession approached
the altar, and the priest then began a service in prose.
We know the character of this celebration chiefly by the preservation of the service
performed on the occasion ; but we are less acquainted with the other particulars of the
festival than with those of some others of these burlesque ceremonies.
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and similar institutions are met with at Valenciennes, Dousi, Bouchain, Langres, &c.

Such slso was the Society of Mother-fool (la société de la mére-folle) at Dijon, founded

in 1482 ; a namber of curious docaments relating to which were puablished by Du Tilliot,
who has also given engravings of the standards, chariots,
&c., used by the company in their processions. The
standard was painted with heads of fools, and bore for
device the dictum of Solomon, Stwitorum infinitus est
numerus. This company was sometimes called /’infanterie
Dijonnoise ; its proceedings and deliberations were all
carried on with a burlesque solemnity of form. The cut
in our margin, taken from one of M. du Tilliot’s plates,
represents the head of one of the standards of this com-
pany : La mére-folle appears feeding a nest of young fools,
while the pére-fou is seen underneath. The company had
a seal bearing the figure of la mére-folle seated, and round
the field the same inscription as on the standard.

III. THE FEAST OF INNOCENTS.

The feast of Innocents was closely allied to, if not
identical with, the feast of fools, and was celebrated in
many towns of France with the same ceremonies. At
Amiens, in December 1533, the chapter of the cathedral
granted sixty sols for the expenses of holding the feast
of Innocents. Various entries in the register of the

chapter of Laon refer to this festival, in which it appears that the choristers went
in procession through the town. On the eve of St. Nicholas, in winter, they elected a
bishop of Innocents, and in the same church there was elected a patriarch of fools. In
1518 a man was condemned to prison for eight days, at the complaint of the chapter,
for having thrown fire from the top of a portal on the patriarch and his “consorts”
when they were celebrating their festival on the eve of the Epiphany. The feast of
the Innocents was also held in the church of Senlis, where the expenses were paid by
the chapter; such also was the case at Noyon, where, in 1430, two rival bishops of
the Innocents were clected, which gave rise to a great dispute. Bishops or archbishops
of Innocents were also elected at Roye, Peronne, Corbie, Toul, Rheims, &c. The old
statutes of the church of Toul give an account of the ceremonies connected with' the
election of the bishop of the Innocents, which will be found in a work published at
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Paris in 1837, entitled “ Monnaies inconnues des Evéques des Innocens,” &c., to
which we are indebted for some of the materials of the present article. At the abbey
of Corbie the expenses of the feast were paid by the prince of the Innocents, as he was
called there (festi Innocentium, cujus confraternitatis eodem anno (1516) eram princeps).
These expenses were so great, that the monk who is here speaking was obliged to sell
a house to pay for them. In 1479 the chapter of Rheims agreed to pay the expenses
of the feast of the bishop of Innocents, only on condition that they should not. carry
masks; that trumpets should not be sounded, and that they should not ride on horseback
about the town.

There was a point of resemblance between the medieval and the classic Saturnalia
which, until recently, has escaped observation: in the Roman festivals a sort of money,
supposed to have been of thin copper or lead, was circulated under the name of sigilla; and
these sigilla, during the festival, formed an extensive article of commerce. According
to Macrobius, the sale of the sigilla (sigillariorum celebritas) lasted during seven days;
the bishops of the Innocents and of fools had in like manner a sort of money struck in
lead, a great quantity of which has been of late years discovered in France. The author
of the work on this subject just quoted (Monnaies inconnues des Evéques des Innocens, des
Fous) has given engravings of upwards of a hundred specimens, bearing appropriate
types and legends, from which we give a selection in the accompanying plate. Some
of them bear on the reverse crosses of a very elegant design.

The first of these, fig. 1 of our plate, has, on the obverse, a grotesque personage,
wearing a capuchon, and mounted on an ass, with the legend MONOIE . DE LEVEsQ
INocTH«; on the reverse, a cross, with the same inscription in Latin, MONETA . EPI .
INNOCENTVM WH.

Fig. 2, found at Amiens, is curious for its early date. On one side is a king, with
his left hand extended over the letters A and O and what appears like a musical note;
with the inscription AV : GRE : DEDIEV : & : ABO’DROIT, i.e. au gré de Dieu et & bon
droit.  On the reverse is the inscription MON . NOvA . EPI . INOC . A . 1499, i.e.
moneta nova episcopi Innocentium anno 1499. '

Fig. 8, also found at Amiens, appears to be of a date anterior to the sixteenth
century. On one side a soldier is represented slaying a child, one of the ‘Innocents,’
with the legend MONETA : EPI : INNOCENT; on the reverse is a plain cross, with two
mitres and two fleurs-de-lis, and the inscription in French, MONOIE : DV : VEsq :
DES : IN.

Fig. 4 is the money of the archbishop of the Innocents of the parish of St. Firmin
at Amiens. On one side appears a bishop in the act of giving his benediction,
MONETA . ARCHIEPI : SCTI : #IRMINI; on the other are two personages, one of
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towardes the churche and churcheyarde, their pipers pipyng, their drommers thonderyng,
their stumppes dauncyng, their belles jynglyng, their handkerchefes swyngyng about
their heades like madmen, their hobbie horses and other monsters skirmishyng amongest
the throng: and in this sorte thei goe to the churche (though the minister bee at
praier or preachyng), dauncyng and swingyng their handkercheefes over their heades
in the churche, like devilles incarnate, with suche a confused noise that no manne
can heare his own voice. Then the foolishe people thei looke, thei stare, thei laugh,
thei fleere, and mounte upon formes and pewes to see these goodly pageauntes so-
lemnized in this sorte. Then, after this, aboute the churche thei goe againe and againe,
and so forthe into the churche yarde, where thei have commonly their sommer-haules,
their bowers, arbours, and banquettyng-houses set up, wherein thei feaste, banquet, and
daunce all that daie, and (peradventure) all that night too; and thus these terrestrial
furies spend the Sabbaoth daie. Then, for the further innoblyng of this honorable
lurdane (lorde, I should saie), thei have also certaine papers wherein is painted some
babblerie or other of imagerie worke, and these thei call my lorde of misrules badges.
These thei give to every one that will give money for them, to maintaine them in this
their heathenrie, devilrie ; and who will not shewe hymself buxome to them and give
them money for these the devilles cognizaunces, thei shall bee mocked and flouted at
shamefully — (yea, and many times carried upon a cowlstaffe, and dived over heade and
eares in water, or otherwise most horribly abused). And so assotted are some, that thei
not onely give them money, but also weare their badges and cognizances in their hattes
or cappes openly. .. .. Another sorte of fantastical fooles bryng to these helhoundes
(the lorde of misrule and his complices), some bread, some good ale, some newe cheese,
some olde cheese, some custardes, some cracknels, some cakes, some flaunes, some
tartes, some creame, some meate, some one thing, some another.”
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his wife, and resolved to take a ferocious revenge. He invited the unsuspecting lover
_ to a feast, and there seized him, and immediately caused him to be hanged on a
small eminence in the dell adjacent to the castle. The tradition says that the angry
prince led his wife, who was ignorant of what had taken place, to a window which
commanded a view of the gallows, and there, with a sarcastic smile, asked her how much
she would give to see her paramour. A fragment of what appears to have been a
Welsh ballad, containing the question of the prince and the lady’s answer, was obtained
by Pennant from the oral recitation of the peasantry of the neighbourhood, and is thus
by him given in English : —

¢¢ ¢ Lovely princess,’ said Llewelyn,
¢ What will you give to see your Willim ?°
¢ Wales, and England, and Llewelyn,
1'd freely give to see my Willim.’

The princess lived eight years after this event, and appears to have regained the
affections of her husband, who erected the monastery of Llanvaes over her grave,
“whose pleasure it was,” as Caradoc of Llancarvan expresses it,  to be here buried.”
The monastery was consecrated in 1240 by Howel bishop of Bangor; but, in a few
years afterwards, it was burnt in an insurrection of the Welsh. Edward IL., in pity for
the sufferings of the brotherhood, remitted them the taxes they owed him. In the war
with Owen Glyndowr, the friars having shown a disposition to take part with that chief-
tain, Henry IV. plundered their house, killed some of them, and imprisoned the rest ;
but he soon afterwards liberated them and made restitution. After the dissolution
Henry VIIIL. sold the property, and it came into private hands. In the sequel the
monastic buildings were destroyed, and the tomb of the princess, in memory of whom
they had been erected, was desecrated in the manner above described.
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reach it without tearing up the plant.

It is said of this plant that it has so great
power, that whatever thing draws it up, that thing will instantly perish.” Philip de

Thaun, in his bestiary, adds some particulars to this descriptive account. He says : —
¢ Hom ki la deit cuillir, ¢ The man who is to gather it
entur la deit fuir, must dig round about it,
Suavet belement Must take great care
qu'il ne I’atuchet nent ; that he does not touch it ;
Puis prenge un chen lied, Then let him take a dog bound,
i 1i sait atachet, let it be tied to it,
Ki ben seit afermée, Which has been close shut up,
treis jurs ait junée, and has fasted three days,
E pain 1i seit mustrex, And let it be shewn bread,
de luinz seit apelez ; and called from afar;
Li chens 2 sai trarat, The dog will draw it to him,
1a racine rumperat, the root will break,
E un cri geterat, And will send forth & cry,
li chens mort encharat the dog will fall down dead
Pur le cri qu'il orat ; At the cry which he will hear ;
tel vertu cel herbe ad, such virtue this plant has,
Que nuls ne la pot oir, That no one can hear it,
sempres n’estoce murrir. but he must always die.
E se li hom le oait, And if the man heard it,
enes le pas murreit : he would immediately die :
Pur ceo deit estuper Therefore he must stop
ses orailes, e guarder his ears, and take care
Que il ne oi le cri, That he hear not the cry,
qu'il morge altresi, lest he die,
Cum li chens ferat As the dog will do
ki le cri en orat.” which shall hear the cry.”

This superstitious legend was an article of belief down to a late period, and is
alluded to more than once in Shakespeare. Thus, in the “Second Part of Henry VI.”
act iii. scene 2,—

¢ Would curses kill, as doth the mandrake’s groan.”

And in “ Romeo and Juliet,” act iv. sc. 3,—

¢¢ And shrieks like mandrakes, torn out of the earth,
That living mortals, hearing them, run mad.”

Figures of the male and female mandrake, with its roots representing a clearly
defined human body, are found in nearly all the illustrated herbals from the tenth
century to the sixteenth. It may be sufficient to refer to the Herbarius zii Teiitsch,
printed at Augsburg in 1488 ; the Hortus Sanitatis, printed in 1491 ; the “Grete Herball,”
printed in England early in the sixteenth century, and the somewhat carlier French
work from which it was compiled. The fabulous accounts of this plant had,
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Our next cut, taken from MS. Egerton (in the British Museum), No. 613, fol. 34, v°.,
represents an imaginary bird, - S
called by the medieval natu- =~ =~ ' , o
turalists the caladrius. Ac- ‘
cording to the Latin bestiary
of the Harleian manuscript :
already quoted, the caladrius e
was a bird entirely white, . T o
which loved to frequent the - N N N
halls of kings and princes. R o -
If it were brought to any one i ) ’ :
labouring under a dangerous illness, it would turn its head from the patient in case
there was no hope of recovery; but if the man were not fated to die, then the bird
“looked him in the face, and, by so doing, took his infirmity upon itself, and flew into
the air towards the sun, and burnt his infirmity and dispersed it ; and so the sick man
would be cured.”* The manuscript from which our woodcut is taken contains the
Anglo-Norman metrical bestiary of William the clerk, composed at the beginning of the
thirteenth century, which gives the following account of this bird : —

0

CA

¢¢ Kaladrius est uns oiseals ¢¢ Caladrius is a bird
Sor toz autres curteis e beals, Courteous and beautiful above all others,
Altresi blanc com est la neifs. As white as is the snow.
Mut par est cist oiseals curteis. Very courteous this bird this.
Aucone feiz le trove 'em Sometimes one finds it
El pays de Jerusalem. In the country of Jerusalem.
Quant home est en grant maladie, ‘When a man is in great sickness,
Ke ’em desespeire de sa vie, That one despairs of his life,
Donc est cist oiseals aportez ; Then this bird is brought ;
Se cil deit estre confortez If this man {s to be solaced
E repasser de cel malage, And to recover from his disease,
L’oisel li torne le visage, The bird turns to him its face,
E tret A sei I'enfermeté. And draws to itself the infirmity.
E #'il ne deit aver santé, And if he is not to recover his health,
L'oiseals se torne autre part, The bird turns the other way,
JA ne fra vers li regart.’” It will not give a look towards him.”

Among the monsters of the deep one of the most remarkable was the serra or serre.
It is described as having the head of a lion and the tail of a fish, with wings to fly.

* Et assumit omnem sgritudinem hominis intra se, | ejus, et dispergit eam, et sanetur infirmus,—MS. Harl.

et volat in aera contra solem, et comburit infirmitatem

No. 4751, fol. 40, o,
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of the riches of this world, which allure men to their destruction. In this manner the
whole range of animal nature was made to be full of spiritual instruction.

The popularity of these wonderful stories had a powerful and injurious influence in
retarding the advancement of science. Fable was more acceptable to the general reader
than truth, and it was long before even scholars themselves could emancipate their
minds from this intellectual thraldom. Even scrious and (in general) accurate writers,
like William de Rubruquis, were led astray. The earliest medieval account of such
monsters is contained in a supposititious letter from Alexander the Great, during his
Indian expedition, to his master Aristotle, which appears to be derived from some
Eastern original, and of which there is an Anglo-Saxon translation. It was from this
crrcumstance that the fabulous accounts of monsters supposed to have been seen and
overcome by this great hero found their way into the Romance. The belief in them was
in the fourteenth century riveted on people’s minds by the no less extraordinary
adventures of Sir John Maundevile.




